

NOTICE OF MEETING

Meeting:	HOUSING OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL
Date and Time:	WEDNESDAY, 19 SEPTEMBER 2018, AT 6.00 PM*
Place:	THE BRADBURY ROOM, APPLETREE COURT, LYNDHURST
Telephone enquiries to:	Lyndhurst (023) 8028 5000 023 8028 5588 - Ask for Karen Wardle Email: karen.wardle@nfdc.gov.uk

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION:

*Members of the public may speak in accordance with the Council's public participation scheme:

(a) immediately before the meeting starts, on items within the Panel's terms of reference which are not on the public agenda; and/or

(b) on individual items on the public agenda, when the Chairman calls that item. Speeches may not exceed three minutes. Anyone wishing to speak should contact the name and number shown above.

Bob Jackson Chief Executive

Appletree Court, Lyndhurst, Hampshire. SO43 7PA www.newforest.gov.uk

This Agenda is also available on audio tape, in Braille, large print and digital format

AGENDA

Apologies

1. MINUTES

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 20 June 2018 as a correct record.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To note any declarations of interest made by members in connection with an agenda item. The nature of the interest must also be specified.

Members are asked to discuss any possible interests with Democratic Services prior to the meeting.

3. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

To note any issues raised during the public participation period.

4. SHELTERED ACCOMMODATION

To receive a presentation providing an update on current provision in the District and the re-modelling of current schemes.

5. DRAFT HOUSING STRATEGY AND DRAFT HOMELESSNESS STRATEGY

To receive an update on the emerging draft Housing Strategy and the draft Homelessness Strategy.

6. HOUSING ALLOCATION POLICY REVIEW

To consider how the current Allocation Policy operates and the need for review.

7. UNIVERSAL CREDIT

To receive a presentation on the current situation in relation to Universal Credit and whether any local initiatives / joint working have been undertaken and to understand the impact on the housing department.

8. USE OF RECEIPTS FROM RIGHT TO BUY SALES (Pages 1 - 14)

To discuss the Government consultation (attached) on the Use of receipts from Right to Buy sales.

9. PORTFOLIO HOLDER'S UPDATE

An opportunity for the Portfolio Holder to provide an update to the Panel on any issues.

10. WORK PROGRAMME (Pages 15 - 16)

To consider the Panel's future work programme and make changes where necessary.

11. DATES OF MEETINGS 2019/20

To agree the following dates of meetings for 2019/20:

19 June 2019 18 September 2019 15 January 2020 18 March 2020

12. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT

Councillors

S P Davies (Chairman)	N S Penman
D M S Poole (Vice-	Miss A Sevier
Chairman)	M A Steele
Mrs L D Cerasoli	Mrs C V Ward
Ms K V Crisell	Mrs P A Wyeth
Mrs P J Lovelace	-

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8



Use of receipts from Right to Buy sales

Consultation



© Crown copyright, 2018

Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown.

You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence visit <u>http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/</u>

This document/publication is also available on our website at www.gov.uk/mhclg

If you have any enquiries regarding this document/publication, complete the form at http://forms.communities.gov.uk/ or write to us at:

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government Fry Building 2 Marsham Street London SW1P 4DF Telephone: 030 3444 0000

For all our latest news and updates follow us on Twitter: https://twitter.com/mhclg

August 2018

ISBN: 978-1-4098-5298-8

Contents

Scope of the consultation	4
Introduction	6
Options for reforming the rules around the use of Right to Buy receipts	7
Reforming the replacement commitment	13
About this consultation	15
Annex A: Personal data	16
Annex B: Consultation response proforma	18

Scope of the consultation

Topic of this consultation:	This consultation seeks views on options for reforming the rules governing the use of Right to Buy receipts from the sale of council housing, and whether we should reform the commitment that every additional home sold (as a result of the increase in discounts in 2012) is replaced on a one-for-one basis nationally.
Scope of this consultation:	This consultation seeks views on the options and invites consultees to comment as well as respond to specific questions.
Geographical scope:	These proposals relate to England only.
Impact Assessment:	The purpose of the consultation is to seek views on options to reform the rules governing the use of Right to Buy receipts. Any policy changes brought forward as a result of the consultation would be subject to appropriate assessment.

Basic Information

То:	This consultation is open to everyone. It is primarily aimed at stock-holding English local housing authorities.
Body/bodies responsible for the consultation:	Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government
Duration:	This consultation will last for 8 weeks and will close on 9 October 2018.
Enquiries:	For any enquiries about the consultation please contact <u>RTBconsultation@communities.gsi.gov.uk</u> .
How to respond:	Consultation responses should be submitted by online survey: <u>https://www.surveymonkey.co.uk/r/RTBconsultation</u> We strongly encourage responses via the online survey, particularly from organisations with access to online facilities such as local authorities, representative bodies and businesses. Should you be unable to respond online we ask that you complete the pro forma at the end of this document. Additional information or evidence can be provided in addition to your completed pro forma. In these instances you can email your pro forma to: <u>RTBconsultation@communities.gsi.gov.uk</u>

Or send to: Right to Buy Consultation Response Right to Buy and Local Authority Housing Division Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 3rd floor, Fry Building 2 Marsham Street LONDON SW1P 4DF
 When you reply it would be very useful if you confirm whether you are replying as an individual or submitting an official response on behalf of an organisation and include: your name, your position (if applicable), the name of organisation (if applicable), an address (including post-code), an email address, and a contact telephone number

Introduction

1 The Social Housing Green Paper, "A new deal for social housing", published today sets out the Government's vision for social housing following wide ranging and extensive engagement with social housing residents and landlords. Social housing remains central to our supply ambitions, providing a stable base that supports people when they need it. But our social housing offer must also be one that supports social mobility. The Green Paper includes a chapter on supply and supporting home ownership which sets out options to support local authorities to build more homes. These include changing the rules around how local authorities can use the money raised from Right to Buy sales in order to make it easier for them to build more homes. This consultation paper provides the opportunity to comment on these ideas, which are set out in more detail below. It also sets out options for reforming the commitment that every additional home sold (as a result of the increase in discounts introduced in 2012) is replaced on a one-for-one basis nationally.

Background

- 2 Under current Right to Buy legislation, council tenants and housing association tenants who transferred with their homes from council landlords – have the right to buy their home at a discount, with the amount of discount dependent upon the length of time as a social tenant. Right to Buy discounts are currently a maximum of £108,000 in London and £80,900 outside of London.
- 3 In April 2012 the Right to Buy was reinvigorated by the Government and the maximum Right to Buy discounts were increased. A commitment was also introduced for the first time that for every additional sale (above the original baseline forecast under the Self-Financing Settlement), a new affordable home would be provided nationally through acquisition or new supply. Local authorities could also enter into an agreement with the Government to retain these additional sales receipts to fund the provision of the replacement stock.
- 4 Under the terms of the current agreements, made under Section 11(6) of the Local Government Act 2003, local authorities are required to spend retained Right to Buy receipts within three years, and for the receipts to fund no more than 30% of the cost of a replacement unit. Where a local authority is unable to spend receipts within three years they have to be returned to the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, together with interest of 4% above base rate, to be spent on affordable housing through Homes England or the Greater London Authority.
- 5 Statistics released in March 2018 showed for the first time that while the overall number of homes available for social rent has increased, local authorities have not been building enough Right to Buy replacements to match the pace of sales and the commitment that every additional home sold would be replaced on a one-for-one basis nationally is no longer being met. It is clear that local authorities need to increase their rate of delivery of new homes if they are to match the growth in sales.

- 6 The Government recognises that more needs to be done to help councils deliver replacement homes and have already taken action. Local authorities in high affordability pressure areas are able to <u>bid for additional Housing Revenue Account</u> <u>borrowing</u> which can be used alongside their unspent Right to Buy receipts to build new homes, and we have set a longer-term rent deal to provide investment stability.
- 7 The Government is aware from engagement with the sector that the current restrictions around the use of Right to Buy one-for-one receipts are a barrier to delivery. To help councils build more homes, the Government believes there is a case for greater flexibility on the use of receipts from Right to Buy sales. In a written Ministerial statement issued on 29 March 2018, the Government said it would consult further with the sector on how local authorities can use their Right to Buy receipts, and how to ensure that we continue to support local authorities to build more council homes.
- 8 The purpose of this consultation paper is to seek views on options for reforming the rules governing the use of Right to Buy receipts from the sale of council housing, and options for reforming the commitment that every additional home sold (as a result of the increase in discounts in 2012), is replaced on a one-for-one basis nationally.
- 9 The paper poses a number of specific questions. When responding it would be useful if you could identify which questions you are answering. The questions are set out in the attached pro forma.

Options for reforming the rules around the use of Right to Buy receipts

- 1. Timeframe for spending Right to Buy receipts
- 10 Local authorities are currently required to spend their one-for-one Right to Buy receipts within three years. If the receipts are not spent within three years the authority has to return them to the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government together with interest of 4% above base rate. Returned receipts are used through Homes England or the Greater London Authority for the provision of affordable housing. The Government is aware that local authorities are frustrated when they have to return receipts plus interest despite having developments in the pipeline that they could be used on if they were able to keep them for longer.
- 11 The Government is not, however, minded to extend the three year deadline for all receipts as the ambition is still for local authorities to deliver replacements quickly and local authorities have now had six years since the rules were introduced in 2012 to build up their experience and capacity to develop and deliver new housing.
- 12 The Government is considering allowing local authorities to hold receipts they <u>currently</u> <u>retain</u> for five years instead of three, to give them longer to spend the receipts that they already have. This would also be helpful for those local authorities that are successful

in bidding for additional borrowing through the Housing Revenue Account <u>additional</u> <u>borrowing programme</u>. It would also allow time for the other flexibilities proposed in this paper to be introduced, which will help make it easier for both existing and future receipts to be used.

13 If this flexibility was introduced, it would be made clear which receipts would fall under the five-year rule and which would fall under the three-year rule based on the quarter the receipts were received.

Question 1:

We would welcome your views on extending the time limit for spending Right to Buy receipts from three years to five years for existing receipts but keeping the three-year deadline for future receipts.

2. Cap on expenditure per replacement unit

- 14 Right to Buy receipts can currently fund no more than 30% of the cost of a replacement home (whether through acquisition or new build) and local authorities have to find additional funding for the remaining 70%.
- 15 The Government believes that this should be feasible for authorities in typically higherdemand areas where the rental stream is sufficient to finance the remaining (up to) 70% through borrowing. However, if an authority is in a high-demand area but up against its borrowing cap and therefore unable to borrow, or in a low-demand area where they are able to borrow but rents are too low to finance the required level of borrowing, this can provide a significant stumbling block. It can also be problematic for authorities wanting to build homes for social rather than affordable rent, as these require a greater subsidy than 30%.
- 16 The Government is therefore considering allowing greater flexibility in the following circumstances:

a) Increase the cap to 50% of build costs for homes for social rent in areas where authorities meet the eligibility criteria of the Affordable Homes Programme and can demonstrate a clear need for social rent over affordable rent; and

b) Allow local authorities to "top-up" insufficient Right to Buy receipts with funding from the Affordable Homes Programme up to 30% of build cost for affordable rent, or 50% of build costs for social rent where authorities can demonstrate a need for social rent, with bids for top-up to be submitted to the Affordable Homes Programme.

Question 2:

We would welcome your views on allowing flexibility around the 30% cap in the circumstances set out above, and whether there are any additional circumstances where flexibility should be considered.

3. Use of receipts for acquisition

- 17 Local authorities can use Right to Buy receipts for the acquisition of existing properties as well as for new build, and acquisitions currently account for around 40% of replacements. Last-minute high-value acquisitions, where local authorities use receipts rather than have to return them to the Department together with interest, have been highlighted as one of the problems affecting replacement. This has an impact on the level of new supply being achieved through Right to Buy receipts. However, in some areas acquisition may be cheaper than new build and offer better value for money or may better reflect local needs. Acquisition can also be effective in bringing empty properties back into use. The Government does not therefore propose to implement a blanket ban on acquisition but is considering restricting acquisitons in order to help drive up new supply.
- 18 We have considered restricting the use of receipts for acquisition by:
 - a) introducing a price cap per dwelling based on average build costs at Homes England and Greater London Authority operating area level;

Table 1 – Average total scheme costs (build cost) by operating area provided by Homes England and the Greater London Authority.¹

Homes England/GLA Operating Areas	Average Total Scheme Costs (2018/19 prices)
Midlands	132,000
North East, Yorkshire and the Humber	113,000
North West	122,000
South East	167,000
South West	152,000
Inner London	268,000
Outer London	265,000

For example, in the North East or Yorkshire and the Humber areas, it may sometimes be cheaper to acquire a property for less than £113,000 rather than build a new unit. In this case, the local authority would be allowed to acquire the property rather than build a new unit.

However, in London, in most instances, it is likely to be cheaper to build a new property than to acquire one. Purchases of properties over $\pounds 265,000$ in Outer London and $\pounds 268,000$ in Inner London would not be allowed.

¹ This is based on programme data from the Affordable Homes Programme between 2015-18. These have been uprated to 2018/19 prices using the Consumer Price Index (CPI) forecasts produced by the Office of Budget Responsibility from Spring Statement 2018

or

b) allowing acquisition in certain areas only, for example, where average build costs are more than acquisition costs.

Our preference is for option a) as option b) would effectively introduce a blanket ban in some areas, which would prevent acquisition of empty properties in those areas.

Question 3:

We would welcome your views on restricting the use of Right to Buy receipts on the acquisition of property and whether this should be implemented through a price cap per unit based on average build costs.

4. Tenure of replacement home

- 19 Housing built or acquired by local authorities using Right to Buy receipts has to be provided at affordable or social rent. There can be viability issues in providing homes under these tenures for some developments and the Government is considering allowing local authorities flexibility to use receipts for shared ownership housing as well as for affordable and social rent. This could help with viability in some areas and is in line with the definition of affordable housing used under the Affordable Homes Programme.
- 20 Whilst this flexibility could lead to a reduction in the number of replacements being offered at affordable or social rent in some areas, this would be a matter for local authorities to determine in accordance with local needs. We are aware from our engagement with local authorities that this flexibility is not, in any case, likely to be taken up in all areas.

Question 4:

We would welcome your views on allowing local authorities to use Right to Buy receipts for shared ownership units as well as units for affordable and social rent.

5. Changing the way the cost of land is treated

21 Local authorities have to account for their spending and income in a way that satisfies government regulations. Local authorities include most day-to-day spending and income within an account called the General Fund. The General Fund includes spending and income from a range of services including refuse collection, leisure facilities and community development work. Those authorities with a council-owned housing stock have a duty to maintain an additional account called the Housing Revenue Account. The Housing Revenue Account specifically accounts for spending and income relating to the management and maintenance of the council-owned housing stock.

- 22 The majority of local housing authorities (166) have a Housing Revenue Account. In other areas, all council homes have been transferred to Housing Associations. The Housing Revenue Account is governed by strict rules, set out in primary and secondary legislation which control rents and the type of tenancies that can be offered, and give tenants the Right to Buy. The Housing Revenue Account is separated from the local authority's General Fund by a "ring fence" to prevent council tax payers subsidising council housing, and vice versa.
- 23 Where local authorities want to use land in their General Fund to build housing on, they are required to compensate the General Fund from their Housing Revenue Account for the value of the land and the value of the land is not counted as a cost in calculating the authority's one-for-one expenditure. The Government is considering relaxing this restriction to allow local authorities to gift land from the General Fund to their Housing Revenue Account at zero cost, without increasing the Housing Revenue Account Capital Finance Requirement or increasing borrowing limits by the amount necessary to transfer land into the Housing Revenue Account. This will make it easier for local authorities to use land from within their General Fund for housing delivery.
- 24 We are considering limiting this to land which has been held in the General Fund for a number of years and are considering whether this should only apply to land which has not previously been developed or whether to also include land with derelict buildings.

Question 5A:

We would welcome your views on allowing the transfer of land from a local authority's General Fund to their Housing Revenue Account at zero cost.

Question 5B:

We would also welcome your views on how many years land should have been held by the local authority before it can be transferred at zero cost, and whether this should apply to land with derelict buildings as well as vacant land.

6. Transferring receipts to a Housing Company or Arm's-Length Management Organisation (ALMO)

- 25 Local authorities are increasingly setting up housing companies as a means of developing expertise and capacity in delivering new housing. Local authorities are not currently allowed to transfer Right to Buy receipts to a housing company or to an Arm's-Length Management Organisation as the homes built through these organisations do not come under the Housing Revenue Account and are, therefore, not subject to the same protections which residents in council homes enjoy. This means that rents are not set according to government policy and residents are not guaranteed a right to buy their homes.
- 26 The Government believes that, in general, social and affordable housing should be built and managed within a local authority's Housing Revenue Account so that residents' rights are protected and they have access to the Right to Buy. Maintaining this

provision also guarantees the integrity of the ring-fence, protecting both council tenants and Council Tax payers from their money being used for purposes that will not benefit them. However, Government recognises that there are occasions where delivering affordable housing through housing companies might be appropriate, such as where the Housing Revenue Account cannot sustain new building, and is seeking views on the use of Right to Buy receipts through these organisations.

27 The Government believes it is important that council social housing residents have the opportunity to realise their aspirations and become homeowners. Where housing companies are delivering and retaining affordable homes we expect them to offer an opportunity for tenants to become homeowners where feasible.

Question 6:

We would welcome your views on whether there are any circumstances where housing companies or Arm's-Length Management Organisations should be allowed to use Right to Buy receipts.

7. Temporary suspension of interest payments

- 28 If a local authority does not spend their Right to Buy receipts within three years the receipts have to be returned to the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, together with interest of 4% above base rate, to be spent on affordable housing through Homes England or the Greater London Authority. The intention is to encourage local authorities to return receipts sooner where they do not have immediate delivery plans.
- 29 We know that local authorities would prefer to spend the receipts themselves rather than return them to be spent by Homes England/Greater London Authority as returned receipts are not targeted at the local authority area they were returned from. However, there will be instances where a local authority is unable to spend their receipts within the timeframe and the Government is considering providing a short window of time during which local authorities could return receipts without interest.
- 30 If introduced, we consider that this flexibility would apply for one quarter only and that local authorities would be given advance notice of the timing to allow decisions to be taken on whether to return receipts. The period of time the flexibility would operate would tie in with the current Right to Buy pooling requirement timetable.

Question 7:

We would welcome your views on allowing a short period of time (three months) during which local authorities could return receipts without added interest.

8. Other Comments

31 We would welcome your views on other flexibilities which could be introduced to make it easier for local authorities to deliver new housing with their Right to Buy receipts.

Question 8:

Do you have any other comments to make on the use of Right to Buy receipts and ways to make it easier for local authorities to deliver replacement housing?

Reforming the replacement commitment

- 32 With the reinvigoration of Right to Buy in 2012, the Government committed to ensuring that, for every additional council home sold as a result of the increased discounts, a replacement home would be provided nationally through acquisition or new build.
- 33 Under the target as it currently stands, sales by each local authority are measured against a baseline of sales predicted pre-reinvigoration in 2012. For any sales above that baseline, councils can choose to keep a proportion of the money to invest in new housing for affordable and social rent, subject to the conditions set out earlier in the paper. If a local authority cannot meet these conditions, they must return the money to the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government to be spent through Homes England or the Greater London Authority on affordable housing. The target measures these additional sales against the number of housing starts made by local authorities, Homes England or the Greater London Authority using the receipts from the additional sales.
- 34 The national target has now been missed for the last two quarters. This trend is set to continue. However, the measurement of the number of homes sold or acquired and the replacements built which count towards the commitment does not currently include:
 - Homes sold by councils within the baseline forecast for Right to Buy sales from 2012
 - Homes sold under the preserved Right to Buy
 - Council homes sold other than through the Right to Buy
 - Homes built by local authorities with grant and other funding
 - Affordable homes built by housing associations
- 35 The current target focuses on the effects of one policy and does not take into account Government's other efforts to increase the net supply of social and affordable housing. The Government has a strong record of supporting the building of new social housing, which includes the £9 billion Affordable Homes Programme. As such, since 2012, the number of homes provided for social and affordable rent is 159,000, compared to local authority Right to Buy sales of 66,000. Taking into account the total net change in social and affordable rented housing stock, including the Preserved Right to Buy, other sales and losses due to demolitions, there has been a net increase of 49,000 social

and affordable rented homes since 2012. Therefore, the Government is consulting on whether it would be preferable to measure the overall effects of Government policy on social housing stock, instead of narrowly measuring it against the Right to Buy target.

36 One option would be for the Government to drop the current target and to focus on a broader measurement that takes into account all the social and affordable housing that has been sold or lost against the total number of additional social and affordable housing so that it is clear whether there has been an increase rather than loss overall. This would mean that all properties sold under the Right to Buy would be included rather than just those above the baseline forecast in 2012, as well as new social housing bought or built by local authorities and housing associations, regardless of how this has been funded.

Question 9:

Should the Government focus be on a wider measurement of the net increase in the supply of all social and affordable housing instead of the current measurement of additional homes sold and replaced under the Right to Buy? If the target were to change, we would welcome your views on what is the best alternative way to measure the effects of Government policies on the stock of affordable housing.

HOUSING OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY PANEL WORK PROGRAMME 2018/2019

ITEM	OBJECTIVE	METHOD	LEAD OFFICER
	19 September 2018		
Housing Allocation Policy Review	To review the current policy and need for future changes (including the ongoing work of the Task & Finish Group in this respect)	Report to Panel	Grainne O'Rourke/Richard Knott
Sheltered Accommodation	To receive an update on current provision in the District and the re-modelling of current schemes.	Presentation to Panel	Ritchie Thompson/Grainne O'Rourke
Draft Housing Strategy (to include increasing stock levels)	To receive an update on the emerging strategy	Presentation to Panel	Grainne O'Rourke / Andrew Smith
Universal Credit	To consider the current situation and whether any local initiatives/joint working have been undertaken and to understand the impact on the Housing department	Presentation to Panel	Ryan Stevens
	16 January 2019		
Homelessness Strategy	To consider the strategy in the light of the Homelessness Reduction Act	Report to Panel	Grainne O'Rourke/Richard Knot
Approval of new Allocation Policy	To agree a new Housing Allocation policy	Report to Panel	Grainne O'Rourke / Richard Knott
HRA Report (new item)	To consider the annual report	Report to Panel	Kevin Green
	20 March 2019		

This page is intentionally left blank